

# Nymi Band 3.0 HID Seos

User Guide 2020-09-23 Version 1.1

© 2020 Nymi Inc.



## **Table of Contents**

Revision history	3
1 Overview	4
Prerequisites	4
1.1. Supported HID Readers	4
2 HID Seos Credential Enrollment	5
2.1. AsureID and Encoder Setup	5
2.2. Loading Encoder Keys and Credits in AsureID	6
2.3. Configuring CP1000 Encoder Settings for Nymi Band 2.0	6
2.4. Creating a Work Order in AsureID	8
2.5. Encoding Nymi Band Seos Credential (Card ID + Facility ID) in AsureID	10
2.5.1. Read Back Nymi Band Seos credential	12
2.5.2. Re-encoding Nymi Band Seos credential	12
2.5.3. Rolling Seos keys on a Nymi Band	13
2.6. Configuring the Readers with Elite Keys	14
3 Nymi Band User Enrollment	15
3.1. Nymi Band User Enrollment	16
3.2. Authentication by Fingerprint	17
3.3 Nymi Band User Unenrollment	17
3.3.1. Removing the Nymi Band's assignment from the user	17
3.3.2 Performing a Delete User Data process	17
3.4. Firmware Upload to the Nymi Band	18
3.5. Log Downloads from the Nymi Band	18
4 Using the Nymi Band for Door Access	19
4.1. Charge the Nymi Band	19
4.2.1 Charging the Nymi Band	19
4.2. Wearing the Nymi Band	20
4.3. Authenticate the Nymi Band	20
4.3.1. Authentication by fingerprint	20
4.4. Using Band for Physical Access	21



5 Troubleshooting and Limitations	22
5.1. Pilot / Security Limitations	22
5.2. Enrollment System Limitations	22
5.3. Resetting the Nymi Band	23
6 PACS Early-Access Addendum	24

## Revision history

Version	Date	Revision history
1.0	June 14, 2020	Initial version
1.1	September 17, 2020	Corrections



## 1 Overview

This guide provides information about using and managing the Nymi Band in HID Seos enabled physical access application environment. It contains workflow information and troubleshooting information that helps you to set up and use the Nymi Band within a HID ecosystem.

#### Prerequisites

The following components need to be available:

- 1. Nymi Band 3.0
- 2. Laptop provided by Nymi to allow local enrollment of the Nymi Bands using the Nymi Band Application (NBA) software.
- 3. CP1000 (Omnikey 5427UE) USB encoder provided by HID, configured to work with Nymi Bands.

The general workflow of a Seos-enabled Nymi Band is shown below.



Figure 1.1 - Nymi Band workflow for HID Seos physical access applications

**Note:** This document strictly pertains to the Nymi Band 3.0 Beta program and is meant for deploying Seos in small Proof-Of-Concept (POC) and pilot projects only.

#### 1.1. Supported HID Readers

The following HID access control readers have been qualified to work with the Seos enabled Nymi Band. Ensure that the HID readers are set up with the RF settings that match the CP1000 encoder.

HID Reader Description Reference	HID Reader	Description	Reference
----------------------------------	------------	-------------	-----------



HID multiCLASS SE RP40	multiCLASS SE® readers simplify migration from legacy technologies with support 125 kHz for HID Prox	MILITIC LASS
HID iCLASS SE R40	iCLASS SE® R40 is part of HID Global's iCLASS SE platform for adaptable, interoperable access control.	

Note: Most supported readers indicate iCLASS SE on the front nameplate of the reader.

## 2 HID Seos Credential Enrollment

#### 2.1. AsureID and Encoder Setup

To set up AsureID, follow the quick start guide that came with the CP1000 encoder, or follow the steps provided in the AsureID User Guide (PLT-01485). The CP1000 encoder is provided by HID to operate with the Nymi Band. The AsureID **licence key** is printed on the CP1000 encoder quick start guide on page 4, provided by HID. This licence key is used with AsureID for online activation. The initial AsureID credentials are:

- UserID: admin
- password: admin

During the first-time setup of CP1000 encoder, a prompt appears to **provide new admin keys for encoder.** Do the following:



- 1. Create a passphrase.
- 2. Generate and save random keys.
- 3. Save a copy of the three keys in case the encoder needs to be securely restored at some later date.

For more information, see the HID AsureID Guide.

### 2.2. Loading Encoder Keys and Credits in AsureID

Install iClass SE encoder configuration package (refer to the HID AsureID User Guide).

- Connect CP1000 encoder.
- Launch AsureID, choose Work Order Manager application.
- Select File > Upload Encoder Configuration Package.

	Work Order Manager - Asure ID	- o	$\times$
			× 😧
instal Plugin Package	Add Wats Performance Weak heterscharts Weak heterscharts Weak heterscharts Mark Hete		
Uplead Encoder Configuration Peckage	to group be that column		-
Upload Credential Credits Upload Credential Credits Import Work Order Expect Work Order Credit Credits Open Log File		Selected Decoder: HID OMB/DY 5427 CK 0, 0 Selected Technology: Beos Current Sartas: Carnected SAN Verson: S.4.0.0	
Recent Items		Credential Credits: Third Party, Custom 100006 Genuine HD, Custom	
		50004 Two Party, HID 530 38 Genuine HD, HID 530 130006	
Eccentruly executed work instruction Teach 10 (40)		Work Order Description	

Figure 2.1 - Uploading encoder configuration package

### 2.3. Configuring CP1000 Encoder Settings for Nymi Band 2.0

#### Note: This step is not required for use with Nymi Band 3.0

Use the following settings to configure the CP1000 encoder for the Nymi Band.

- 1. Connect the CP1000 encoder
- 2. With appropriate drivers installed, open the **Encoder Management** console in a web browser at the default address <a href="http://192.168.63.99">http://192.168.63.99</a>
- 3. Navigate to the Contactless Config > Polling tab, and then
  - 1. Check ISO/IES 14443 Type A, and deselect all other protocols.



- 4. Navigate to the Contactless Config > ISO14443A tab, and then
  - 1. Modify **register 10** with the **value 03**.
- 5. Select the System Config tab
  - 1. Click Apply Changes.
  - 2. Click Store Changes.
  - 3. Click Reboot System.

HID	OK54	27UE/0	(51275)	Encod	er Mana	gement	Pow Power up R	er 164: 0 days, 00:14 eset 0: 0 days, 00:14
	General Overview	Reader	Contectores Config	Host	System	Eystem Comoles		
	Polling Config	Artercoan Config	LEDA & Burner	ISO14443 Cerfg	A ISO146 Confi	uan Isona g Cont	693 FeliCa Ng Config	KLA59 Config
Polling Prequency 10		ISO/18	C 14443 Type	×≥				
Polling Delay 0		ISOIE	C 14443 Type	8				
Removal Delay 6			FeliCa					
Removal Persist 2		ICLAS	S 14443 Type	8				
RF Field Off Delay 50			CLASS 15093					
RF Field On Delay 200								
EMD Enable		-						
END Frame Longth 3	1							

Figure 2.2 - Configuring CP1000 encoder protocol settings



H	D	i,	O	(542	2701	E/OI	K5127	SI E	inco	der	r Ma	nag	emer	it	Powe	Power rup Res	164: D days, 00:0 et 0: D days, 00:0
			Gene	inger Annere	Reac	Ser ution	Contaction Config	١.	Host Notes	Υ	System Config	Ϋ́.	System Ionacian	ľ.			
			Poli Con	ng Ng	Ante	entas entig	LEDA		IB014 Con	ng	180	oning	1301 Co	66933 189		eliCa Config	ICLASS Cooling
						_	-						-		1		
ISO/IEC	0 5444	3 Type A	$\leq$			_		Frem	e Delwy	Time	1180		_		Timin	g units	are in:
ISO/IEC	Anti-	3 Type A collision	8 8				_	Prem Ri	e Delwy EQA Th	Time neout	1180 2712				Timin 13.0	ig units I Minz (y	are in: ces +
ISO/IEC	Anti-	3 Type A collision	3 8				A	Prem RS Stoolie	e Delwy EQA Thr sion Thr	Time neout neout	1180 2712 2712		3		Tmin [13.5	ig units I Mhz cy	are in: ces +
ISO/IEC Neximum	Anti- Anti-	3 Type A collision aud Rate	<ul> <li>✓</li> <li>✓</li> <li>100x</li> </ul>		•	1	A	Prem Ri Sicolik	e Delwy EQA Thr sion Thr Halt Thr	Time neout neout neout	1180 2712 2712 13560	- 	3		Timin [13.54	ig units I Mhz sy	are lac ces +
ISO/IEC Neximum Maximum	Anti- Anti- Tx Br	3 Type A collision aud Rate	<ul> <li>✓</li> <li>✓</li> <li>100x</li> <li>100x</li> </ul>		•	1	A	Frem RS Scotts Free	e Delwy EQA Tw sion Tw Halt Tw ne Walt	Time neout neout neout Time	1180 2712 2712 13560 05536				Tmin [13.5	ig units I Mhz cy	are inc cas +
ISD.HEC Nasimum Nasimum Register #	Anti- Anti- Tx Br Rx Br	3 Type A collision aud Rate sud Rate	<ul> <li>✓</li> <li>1008</li> <li>1008</li> <li>1008</li> </ul>	4	• • •	0	A	Prem Rd Stoolike Pras	e Delay EQA Tin sion Tin Hait Tin ne Walt	Time neout neout Time 11	1160 2712 2712 13560 05530	13	14 15	16	Timin [13.5/	ig units I Mhz cy 18	are Inc ces + + 19

Figure 2.3 - Configuring CP1000 encoder RF settings

#### 2.4. Creating a Work Order in AsureID

To create a word order in AsureID follow these steps:

- 1. Connect CP1000 encoder.
- 2. Launch AsureID, choose Work Order Manager.
- 3. From the overhead menu click New > Seos, then OK.
- 4. In the Seos encoding window click Next.
  - 1. Select HID Access Application
  - 2. Select Write
  - 3. Select credential type format (e.g., H10301)
  - 4. Then click Next
- 5. On the **Define Format Parameters** screen, assign appropriate facility code and card ID rules, and then click **Next**.
- 6. In the Key Selection step, select appropriate GDF, ADF, and SO keys, and then click Next.
- 7. Click **Finish**, then save and name the template for later use.



- 10	Week Order Manager - doure ID	- 0 X
Fig Home		A 🔒
Open Case Other Work Order Mo	Porter An     Porter     Porter An     Porter     Porter An     Porter     Porter An     Porter     Por	
Applications 4	Drag a column Insaler here to group by that column	
Excluses the two-older	Select a Flogin X CLASS MMARE Classic Markets (Classic Markets (Classic)) (Classic Markets (Classic Markets (Classic)) (Classic Markets (Classic)) (Classic Markets (Classic))	Selected Brooter: HD Order SEF OC 0, 0   Selected Technology: Seal   Connect Select Connect Select Connect Select SA.0.0 Ordertal Credits: Head Parity, Conton 190006 Genume (E), Custon 190006 Genume (E), Custon 190006
HID	Mi Record 2 of 2 minutes	The Party, ND 303 38 Genue (HD), HD 510 100006 Work Onler Description



• 'P	Work Onter Monager - Asure ID	- 8 x
The Hard		
Der Con	Sea Grading X	
Michael State	Carriagen Seas Instruction Made Select if the non-instruction will be used to need, write, roll level, or debte a Carton or HD Access Application	Seichel Brader
Read Conference or y Hanagament Production Dynamics Density Configuration Date: Configuration Date: Configuration	Deta Type  Deta Type  Cindential Type  Cindential Type  Cindential Type  Cindential Type  Particle  Particle Parti	SEX SPRIACE SAFECICE.0      SolverStellung      Son      ConnectSafe.c      ConnectSafe.c      ConnectSafe.c      SAFECTION      SolverStellung      SolverStellu
HID = ward of a	e fielt - Next > Canal -	Well Cride Desrgition

Figure 2.5 - Work order configuration, Seos instruction mode

#### 

-	Work Order Manager - Asure ID	- 5 ×
The Hone		* 😜
Copen Coce Stateware Print & Report to CSV	See tradies	
Applications I Drag a column header here in	Define Tornal: Parameter Configue finant parameter data field names, volue unqueness, number ranges and subs incrementing Definition:	Configuration 9
Reader Configuration	None         Parameter Type         Endline Lingue         Default table         Persent Type         Auto table K&           Pedary Code         Static         1 </th <th>Honore Control     Second State     Second State</th>	Honore Control     Second State     Second State
HID #Reard Orth #www	< Back Rent 5 Cancel	Wook The Sec 1997

Figure 2.6 - Work order configuration, define format parameters

•	Work Order Manager - Azure ID	- 0 ×
No. Home		A 😧
Ciperi Close Close Dicto	And the set of the set	
Auctivations 9	Key Selection Select the keys that will be used for the authentication and securing of data on the card.	Conformation +
T KLASS SE Encoder		Selected Encoder:
	10 <sup>th</sup> Key Sels.	HED CHROEY SHEP OF CLO
Elank Order Manager	HD7 recommends users take sourcestigs of their cards by using an Elite CDP keyset or creating a Custam GDP keyset.	Selected Technologys Seas -
	TWP Area See	Current Status:
	Standard Press GDF Nex Sat	Connected
Ray Management		SAM Version:
	AD <sup>#</sup> Kizy Sets	5460
Reader Configuration	ADP Auth Rey Set	Ovdertal Ovdts:
~	Standard    Box ADP Nex Set	Third Party, Custom
<b>4</b> **	Derustion Reve	Service HD, Curton
User Config	20 Annual and an	508004
	Development in Res Of Key Set	thed Party, HED SID
	Discritici	38
		Cenume HED, HED SID
		20000
	< Ded: Next > Ganal	Mark Order Description
HID	ni Record C of C (m	
accessfully executed work instru-	clan 'Read 'still 1' (403)'	

Figure 2.7 - Work order configuration, key selection

# 2.5. Encoding Nymi Band Seos Credential (Card ID + Facility ID) in AsureID

Following these steps to encode the Nymi Band Seos credentials:

1. Ensure that the Nymi Band is unenrolled and on the Nymi Band charger.



Alternatively, an enrolled Nymi Band can be encoded if worn on the user's wrist after having been authenticated.

- 2. Connect CP1000 encoder and launch AsureID.
- 3. In AsureID, select **Work Order Manager** and open the previously saved Work Order to encode Nymi Band.
- 4. Select appropriate entry from list (e.g., Facility Code 10, Card Number 7).
- 5. Place Nymi Band onto the encoder with the display facing the top side of the encoder.
- 6. Click Execute Selected.
- 7. A pop-up window with the encoding status is displayed. Wait for the encoding to complete.
- 8. The Nymi Band can now be enrolled and used to register the Nymi Band's **Facility Code** and **Card Number** with the access control system.



Figure 2.8 - Work order execution

# -√ nymi™

•	Work Online Manager - screencapdemo - Asure ID	- 0 X
Ne Hone Me Man Geon Close Close Viols Deleta Viols Deleta	Image: State 4.4         Image: State 4.4<	A 0
Applications 6	Drag a column header here to group by East column	Configuration &
CLAIS & Proper	Card Jd, Hamber Pacifity, Code Sees, Card, Serial Hamber 1 3	HED CHRISTER 1927 CK CL 0 +  Selected Technology:
Work Order Haracar	Etrapping and 1 of 1 X	Sece v Current Status Connected
Rey Management	Can'd Mi Number: 7 Descuting Work Instruction "Write "Habitat" (HBD)"	SAPI licrolon: S.40.0 Ordential Oradia:
Render Configuration	Canad	Third Parts, Custon 20006 Seruins HD, Custon
		800004 (hwd.94rby, HED SED 38 Genuine HID, HID SED 30006
		Mark Onder Description
HID	(M) Record 2 of 2 (+	Sect. Web. 7400317 (1923)

Figure 2.9 - Work order execution, in progress

#### 2.5.1. Read Back Nymi Band Seos credential

To confirm the Facility Code and Card Number on the Nymi Band, with a work order open, click a record to highlight it, then click the **Read Back** button.

-	Work Onler Manager - screencaptiens - Asure ID	- σ ×
No Hanc		e 🥹
Dpen Close C	Image: Series Act     Image: The Series Act       New Image: Series Act     Add Work, Image: The Series Act       New Image: Series Act     Add Revised Act	
Applications 4	Ong a column header here to group by that column	
3 CLASS SZ Dreader	Cont_tit_pander Facility_Code Sees_Cont_Series_Tander	Selected Encoder: HED OMNOREY 5427 CK CL 6 - 63 finiented Technology:
Work Order Manager	e interes	3805 ·
	Summo ×	Current Statue:
Key Hanagement	Read back surresolully located records	SAM Version:
	Pacity Code=1	5.40.0
Seader Confouration	Card to hunder-3	Credental Credits:
~7	OX	Third Party, Custom
30		20006 Service HD, Custon
User Config		\$00804
		Third Party, HD SID
		38
		Senune HID, HID SID
		100008
		Work Order Description
		beau wate "Hococo" (Hoc)
HID	Recret 2 of 2 + -	
Compare hits around had some instru-	star Sand Shiring College	

Figure 2.10 - Card credential read back

#### 2.5.2. Re-encoding Nymi Band Seos credential



Overwriting the Seos credential with a new Facility Code and Card Number is possible by creating a work order (section 3.4), with **Overwrite Existing Credential** enabled in the **Options** section of the work order.

-	Work Order	Manager - Aoure III	- 5 X
The Stone I			* 0
Open Cose Cose Cose Cose Cose Cose Cose Cose	Sectional and a section for the section of the sect	K. with, of Keyl, of defen a Custom of HD Access	Technic A
(BildAs) SC Lincole	Appleature		Selected Broader.
	Deta Tipe .	Dederate Type	Television and the second seco
Val. Läven Shoure Kar Hanspannet Mar Hanspannet Mar Kardiga ottar Se Utar Cardiga	El HO Asses Apolation C Guass C Inset Distriction Type C Inset C Inde C Inde	Primat: Add Primation are trying to read a not land have, cartiar typer HD representative for excellance.	New  Camero Stationary Camero Station Camero Station Services Services Condense Coulting Condense Coulting Condense Coulting County Cou
HID		e Noti Eeri > Condi	Ain's Order Description

Figure 2.11 - Work order configuration, overwrite existing credential

#### 2.5.3. Rolling Seos keys on a Nymi Band

If keys have been changed previously and need to be written with the standard key set, or the work order requires that the keys be rolled, a **Roll Keys** work order may be created and executed.

- 10	Werk Oxler Manager - Asure (D	- 0 K
70 /2001		× @
Con Cran Control Intervention	Configure Sees Induction Mode	×
terration 1 Day states	Interche Least a Application of the used to read, write, of boys, or deale a Cuctor or HCI scress Application	Statistics ()
Proceedings and the manader March Dates Management Proceedings and the Configuration Cherry Configuration Cherry Configuration	Data Nywe       Presidence         In reD Access Application       Presidence         In red Access       Presidence         In read Carl       Presi	Beckel Florinsker Sector Florinsker Sector Technology Sector Technology Sector Technology Sector Sector Connected Sector
HID	rto ==	Und Over Descention

Figure 2.12 - Work order configuration, roll card keys



### 2.6. Configuring the Readers with Elite Keys

If applicable, to configure a mobile-ready iClass SE door reader with Elite keys, power cycle the reader and apply the reader configuration card within five seconds of powering on the reader.



## 3 Nymi Band User Enrollment

A Nymi Band can only be used after it has been biometrically enrolled to a user. For production use, the Nymi Enterprise Edition (NEE) software is integrated into the customer's Active Directory (AD) environment, and the customer enrolls the users based on pre-existing AD credentials.

In a beta test or POC environment, Nymi may provide a notebook computer with AD, NEE and other utilities already configured. Accounts for users (UserA, UserB, UserC, etc.) are already set up on the AD, and Nymi Band users can enroll using these user credentials.

The content of the notebook is documented in the diagram below. The credentials (user ID and password) necessary to access the system and enroll the Nymi Bands are:

- Windows 10 host PC: user ID is TempAdmin
- Windows Server 2012 virtual machine: user ID for the administrator account is Administrator
- Windows Server 2012 virtual machine: user ID for the user accounts used to enroll the Nymi Bands are UserA and UserB
- All credentials in the notebook computer share the same password: NymiDemo123! . This is acceptable since the notebook contains no sensitive data and is not connected to a production AD.







The Bluetooth dongle is always physically attached to the PC. It is connected to only one operating system at any given time, and the connection is configured within the VMware player





Figure 3.1 - Enrollment station block diagram

In order to access the Windows Server 2012 virtual machine, please do the following:

- 1. From the Windows 10 host PC's desktop, click the Nymi Enterprise Server 2.4 icon. This starts the VMware Player application.
- 2. From the VMware Player screen, right-click the Nymi Enterprise Server 2.4 virtual machine listed on the left.
- 3. Select **Power On** from the drop-down menu. Windows Server 2012 starts in the VMware Player window.
- 4. From within the window, access the Windows Server 2012 using CTRL-ALT-INSERT.
- 5. When operations that require Windows Server 2012 are completed, you can return to the host PC by right-clicking the Nymi Server 2.4 icon, and selecting the **Suspend** option.

#### 3.1. Nymi Band User Enrollment

Launch the **Nymi Band Application** under the Windows Server 2012 virtual machine. Log into the application using the UserA or UserB credential (one for each user), as documented in section 2. Follow the on-screen instructions to enroll the user. For further instructions, please refer to the **Nymi Band Enrollment** section of the *Nymi Enterprise Edition Administration Guide*.



## 3.2. Authentication by Fingerprint

When the screen displays the fingerprint, the employee holds their finger on the square fingerprint sensor and surrounding fingerprint bezel for about 15 seconds, while the Nymi Band displays **HOLD FINGER**.

When the Nymi Band displays one of the following icons, the employee identity was successfully authenticated, and the employee can remove their finger from the fingerprint sensor and fingerprint bezel.

If the authentication fails, the Nymi Band vibrates and the **RETRY** message appears. When the fingerprint icon appears, the employee can try to authenticate again.

If the fingerprint authentication fails, ensure the following considerations:

- Employee's finger and the sensor are clean and dry.
- Employee's finger is still on the sensor and bezel during the authentication period.
- Employee does not lift their finger off the sensor or bezel during the authentication period.

#### 3.3 Nymi Band User Unenrollment

To unenroll a Nymi Band from a user, two operations need to be performed:

- Remove the Nymi Band's assignment from the user
- Perform a Delete User Data process

#### 3.3.1. Removing the Nymi Band's assignment from the user

- 1. In the NES Administrator Console, select Users.
- 2. In the Search field, type the full or partial username, first name, or last name of the employee.
- 3. Click **Find**. The Users page displays the user, or a list of users that match the search criteria.
- 4. Select the name of the user.

#### 3.3.2 Performing a Delete User Data process

- 1. Remove the Nymi Band from the wrist of the user, and then attach the Nymi Band to a charger.
- 2. On the Nymi Band, hold the bottom button until you see the **Delete User Data** message on the screen (about 10 seconds).
- 3. Continue to hold the bottom button until the Nymi Band vibrates quickly twice and the User Data Deleted message appears on the screen.

Biometric authentication does not work for the user after you complete the Delete User Data process. To use the Nymi Band again, the user must enroll the Nymi Band by using the Nymi Band Application



**Note:** If you perform a Delete User Data process on a Nymi Band and attempt to re-enroll it, users will see the following message, *A Nymi Band has been assigned to (user name), however it cannot be found.* To proceed, you need to delete the Nymi Band from NES and re-enroll.

### 3.4. Firmware Upload to the Nymi Band

In the event that a firmware update to the Nymi Band is required, please refer to the **Updating Nymi Band Firmware Overview** section of the Nymi Enterprise Edition Administration Guide for further instructions.

### 3.5. Log Downloads from the Nymi Band

Nymi may request for logs to be retrieved from a Nymi Band for diagnostic purposes.

- 1. Ensure that the Nymi Band is connected to a charger and is within Bluetooth range of the notebook computer.
- 2. From the Windows 10 host PC, start a command prompt, and go to the C:\Users\TempAdmin\Documents\Enrollment Terminal\Log Download directory.
- 3. Run the Services application, and stop the Nymi Bluetooth Service service.
- 4. Run the nsp\_logs\_download.exe application. The logs are saved in the same directory as fwlog day date time year.log.
- 5. Restart the Nymi Bluetooth Service service.



## 4 Using the Nymi Band for Door Access

### 4.1. Charge the Nymi Band

The NymiBand is charged by placing it on a Nymi Band charger. The Nymi Band receives power from standard USB-A ports. It takes about two **hours** to fully charge the Nymi Band. A fully-charged Nymi Band has a battery life of about **three days**. When a Nymi Band has a drained battery, it will not respond to any button presses. The Nymi Band shows a charging icon when connected to the charging cable.

#### **USB charger requirements:**

- Regulated voltage of 5V, independent of the number of ports or connected devices.
- Source a minimum of 150mA for each device, independent of the number of ports or connected devices.



Figure 4.1 – Nymi Band Charger

#### 4.2.1 Charging the Nymi Band

- 1. Plug the charging cable into the USB port on your computer or a UL-certified USB wall charger. A light appears in the center bottom of the charger indicating that it is receiving power.
- 2. Hold the other end of the charging cable near the port on the back of the tracker until it attaches magnetically. Make sure the pins on the charging cable align with the port on the back of your Nymi Band. The Nymi Band vibrates indicating that it is receiving power.
- 3. Push the bottom button on the Nymi Band to view the amount of battery charge that is on the Nymi Band.



Figure 4.2 - Charging battery indicator

4. When the Nymi Band is fully charged, disconnect the charging cable from the Nymi Band.





Figure 4.3 - Full battery indicator

### 4.2. Wearing the Nymi Band

Put on the Nymi Band like a watch. The Nymi Band should be fitted snugly on the user's wrist. Gently push on the Nymi Band and make sure it does not have excess overhang over the wrist. The sensors on the back of the Nymi Band detects whether the Nymi Band is being worn.



Figure 4.4 - How to wear the Nymi Band

#### 4.3. Authenticate the Nymi Band

To use the Nymi Band to perform tasks, the user must authenticate to the Nymi Band. How the user authenticates depends on the group policy configuration. Once a Nymi Band is authenticated on the user's wrist, removing it automatically de-authenticates and deactivates the physical access interface.

#### 4.3.1. Authentication by fingerprint

When the screen displays the fingerprint icon, the user holds their finger on the square fingerprint sensor and surrounding fingerprint bezel for about 15 seconds. When the Nymi Band vibrates, the user identity is successfully authenticated, and the user can remove their finger from the fingerprint sensor and fingerprint bezel. If the authentication fails, the Nymi Band vibrates and the **RETRY** message appears. The user can try to authenticate again.



Figure 4.5 - Nymi Band Authentication Screens

If fingerprint authentication fails, ensure the following:

- User's finger and the sensor are clean and dry.
- Keep your finger still on the sensor during authentication.
- Do not lift your finger from the sensor during authentication.

#### 4.4. Using Band for Physical Access

The physical access feature is active when the enrolled Nymi Band is in an authenticated state. In addition, if the Nymi Band is unbound and on a charge supporting credential encoding, the physical access feature is available.

- 1. Tap and hold the face of the Nymi Band to the center of the HID Seos reader.
- 2. Hold the Nymi Band in place for a minimum of one second until the reader shows a purple light, then green and sounds two beeps.

If the reader shows green light (no purple light) and beeps only once, remove the Nymi Band from the reader and try again.

**Note:** You can retry the tap and hold process multiple times if there is a 2 second wait period between taps.



## 5 Troubleshooting and Limitations

## 5.1. Pilot / Security Limitations

To ease Seos encoding with Nymi Band 3.0, *unenrolled* Nymi Bands can be encoded with Seos credentials when connected to a charger. This poses a potential security risk that customers must understand and agree to for the duration of their Pilot engagement.

In the future, Nymi intends to address this limitation by locking access to Seos credentials on unenrolled bands, requiring system administrators to unlock the credential prior to assigning to a new user.

This implementation results in the following:

- A Delete User Data (section 3.3.2) process puts the Nymi Band into an unenrolled state where user biometrics and data have been deleted but Seos credentials are retained. Access to Seos credentials continue to be available over NFC when an unenrolled Nymi Band is connected to a charger. This means Seos credentials can be used for physical access in an unenrolled, unauthenticated state if a system administrator has not taken action to remove privileges for the Seos credential in question in their physical access control system.
- 2. A previously enrolled Nymi Band will retain its old Seos credential after a Delete User Data action has been performed. When a new user enrolls to the Nymi Band, the same Seos credential will be made available to them. It is up to the system administrator to re-assign the Seos credential to the new user in their physical access control system to avoid inadvertent access to the previous user's physical access privileges.

Note that while enrolled, the Seos credential is only made available when the Nymi Band is authenticated on the enrolled user's wrist.

#### 5.2. Enrollment System Limitations

- The Log Download or Firmware Upload are command-line utilities running on the Windows 10 host (physical PC), whereas AD, Nymi Enterprise Server (NES) and the Nymi Band Application (NBA) run in a virtual machine, under Windows Server 2012.
- The NBA is not qualified to run under Windows Server 2012 for production use, however it is acceptable in this case.
- There are performance (speed) limitations due to the notebook computer and virtualized environment. In particular, the NBA may take up to 15 seconds to start. This is not representative of production performance.
- There is one Bluetooth dongle attached to the enrollment notebook, and it is shared between the host operating system (Windows 10) and the virtual machine's operating system (Windows



Server 2012). The selection is made in the VMware application, which runs under the host operating system. If the Log Download or Firmware Upload application is being used, then the dongle must be logically connected to the host operating system. When the NBA is being used, the dongle must be logically connected to the virtual machine's operating system.

#### 5.3. Resetting the Nymi Band

If the Nymi Band is unresponsive or is behaving in an unusual way, place the Nymi Band on the charger and hold the **top** button for 10 seconds to restart the Nymi Band. Please contact a member of the Nymi field support team so that a log may be retrieved from the Nymi Band to help diagnose the issue. If the Nymi Band is unresponsive after removing from the charger, it may need to charge for a full two hours.



## 6 PACS Early-Access Addendum

The Nymi Bands provided for PACS early access users to beta Nymi software, and may encounter operational issues. If the Nymi Band is not recognized by the HID reader and access is not granted, please ensure that the Nymi Band is authenticated and is held up against the centre of the HID reader for about one second, until the LED turns purple and access is granted.

Note: The LED might turn to a different colour, depending on the configuration of the reader.

If repeated attempts remain unrecognized, please perform the following:

- 1. Remove the Nymi Band from your wrist, and connect it to a charger.
- 2. Press and hold the top button for about 10 seconds, until the word **RESTART** flashes on the screen. The following figure shows the RESTART message.



The restart process takes about 10 seconds to complete. Next, authenticate to the Nymi Band. Afterwards, the Nymi Band is recognized by the HID reader. In rare cases, the Nymi Band may restart without notice. When this occurs, wait for the restart to complete and then authenticate to the Nymi Band. Afterwards, the Nymi Band should be recognized by the HID reader.

Performance of the Nymi solution is undergoing constant improvements. For any inquiries, including the availability of firmware performance updates, please contact your Nymi representative.